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      INTRODUCTION

      An agent of the English king is stabbed and left to bleed to death on the altar of remote Grey Friars chapel in Scotland.

      A parish priest in a mountainous village in southern France suddenly becomes immensely wealthy as a result of parchments he finds hidden in an old altar. Kings, Church leaders, and the elite of Paris take an interest as he uses his wealth to restore his church, employing such a bizarre pagan motif that few would recognize the building as Christian. The circumstances of his death are as inexplicable as his wealth.

      A secret cabal meets in the dark forests of the Ardennes to hatch a scheme to loot a very specific treasure from Jerusalem. They hide their elite group within a military organization, but once their mission is complete, the cover organization is outlawed and its leaders sentenced to death.

      A fog-shrouded bay becomes the center of the most massive treasure hunt in history. The project unites business leaders, a president of the United States, Hollywood actors, and assorted American and Canadian millionaires in an undertaking that will cost millions of dollars as well as human lives.

      What do all these events have in common? They are all linked through time and space by a single thread. A secret society formed a thousand years ago that has survived official persecution and is still on its way to reaching its goal. This society at times has controlled the greatest amount of wealth amassed in the world, owned the world’s largest navy, started revolutions, and undermined governments. The society still exists today.

      In this book you will learn of an extremely complex construction located on an island off the coast of Nova Scotia that has defied humans and modern science for two hundred years. Tiny Oak Island, only 128 acres in size, is one of 350 islands in Mahone Bay. Today it lies about one hour away from Halifax on the southern half of Nova Scotia. Well before modern times, the surrounding land had hardly been settled when evidence of a hidden treasure was discovered. The evidence is a two-hundred-foot vertical shaft protected by oaken platforms as well as cement and metal barriers. The shaft itself is booby-trapped by diagonal shafts running underground, designed to bring in thousands of gallons of ocean water. Their purpose is to stop anyone from finding the pit’s treasure. The water shafts run hundreds of feet to a false beach, where imported fiber and eelgrass were used to cover and protect the drains that supply the ocean water. The intricately designed system stops all invaders who trespass below a certain depth.

      Somehow, someone managed to construct this repository hundreds of years ago. It was discovered more than two hundred years ago, but carbon dating tells us it may be much older. Somewhere under Oak Island there may be an immense treasure: buried treasure of pirates, hidden bounty of Spanish plunderers, or sacred artifacts carried overseas from Europe. No one is certain. Very little has been brought to the surface over the years except more clues. Attempting to find the treasure has already consumed an amount of money that would rival the greatest hoard ever found from a pirate treasure. The effort has cost several individuals their own fortunes and has cost several more their lives. To date, no one is wealthier for having attempted to recover the treasure.

      Welcome to the Money Pit.

      The past, it is said, is history. Today, two things are certain. At present, even greater technology and resources are available to those willing to spend the money to uncover the Money Pit’s secrets. And there is someone willing to make the commitment. A wealthy Canadian businessman has formed what is called the Triton Alliance with fifty-two Canadian and American investors who are underwriting the current excavation. Under the leadership of David Tobias, even the highly respectable Woods Hole Oceanographic Institute has become involved. Oak Island is under siege to give up its secrets. And what might be the value of the treasure? According to Mr. Tobias, it is worth billions.

      There is a treasure lying under the surface of Oak Island. There is evidence that this treasure has a thousand-year provenance and is so valuable that to someone (we know not who), there is no price too great to pay to protect it from being discovered. Concealed in the Money Pit along with a cache of immense monetary value may be secrets that hold crucial importance for the world, even centuries after being hidden. To some, these secrets should stay hidden. To others, no price is too steep to uncover the hoard.

      The premise of this book is that a secret society that has existed under several names and for more than a thousand years was responsible for gathering together what is concealed underneath Oak Island. This group, once wealthy and powerful, fell out of power and was forced to go underground. In their darkest hour they had to give up possession of their wealth, although the organization has survived. The treasure and secrets protected by the group passed to an elite Scottish family, which inherited the guardianship of the secret society. This family was instrumental in designing and building the massive underground complex and in using this remote island in the New World as their private bank.

      Just what is being protected? To be certain, it is massive wealth—in the form of gold and silver, sacred artifacts, and the crown jewels pledged to the first banking organization in Europe as collateral for loans. In addition, there are documents—some from ancient texts that hold secrets protected for more than a thousand years (genealogies of the family of Jesus—from David to Jesus to “heirs” of Jesus). These secrets were perceived both then, when they were concealed, and now as possibly threatening to the Catholic Church. What are these secrets and what implications do they have for us all? To find out we must head into uncharted territory.

      The sea charts of ancient mariners often included small notes in the borders to indicate where the territory was unknown. Here the known truths had not been uncovered. No clues were offered to aid the explorer as to the possibility of lands lying ahead or a sheer drop off the edge of the Earth. Instead, there were depictions of sea serpents and mermaids and the dire warning There Be Monsters Here.

    

  
    
      
        
          Chapter 1
        
      

      THE MYSTERY OF OAK ISLAND

      Nova Scotia in the late eighteenth century offered few diversions. One of them was hunting for buried treasure, since the island was a known haunt of buccaneers and privateers. On a summer afternoon in 1795, three young men decided to go digging for pirate treasure.1 One of them, Daniel McGinnis, had been wandering through the woods of Oak Island and noticed a spot that gave the appearance of having recently been cleared. Red clover and other plants foreign to the island were growing in the cleared area. There was also a ship’s tackle hanging from a sawed-off tree branch, fifteen feet above the ground. The tree itself had strange markings on it.

      The real tip-off was a depression McGinnis saw in the ground. It appeared that someone might have buried something there. Sixteen-year-old Daniel had no trouble persuading two of his friends to return to the uninhabited island with him. This may not have been the first time the boys had hoped and labored to find a chest full of gold, but this particular day would end differently from the others. With shovels and pickaxes, Daniel McGinnis, teenager Anthony Vaughn, and John Smith, aged twenty, went to work. The excavation was started in the center of the depression, and they found the ground softer than they had expected.

      Two feet down they reached a layer of carefully laid flagstones that were not indigenous to the island. (Later it was decided that they came from Golden River on the mainland of Nova Scotia, two miles away.) When they removed the stones they realized they were digging into a previously dug shaft. Ten feet down into the shaft they came upon a platform constructed of oak logs. The logs were rotted and therefore easy to remove. These fitted logs were embedded into the sides of the thirteen-foot-wide shaft, and their poor condition gave them the appearance of having been there for a long time. The clay walls of the shaft had preserved markings that indicated previous digging. The young men removed the logs and continued digging. At twenty feet a second platform of oak logs impeded their progress but fortified their belief that something very valuable was buried further down in the shaft.

      After removing the second platform, they continued working, only to reach another platform at the thirty-foot level. At this point they realized additional help was needed, both in terms of manpower and machinery. Persuading hardworking farmers to abandon their chores was difficult, and little work was done on the shaft for years. Another obstacle to enlisting workers for the project was that few of them would come to the island in the first place. The 128-acre island was just one of 350 islands in Mahone Bay, but it had a reputation. Years before, strange lights had been seen on the island at night, and a few of the mainlanders had rowed out to investigate. It is said that they were never heard from again. The island was haunted.

      Without the support they needed, the young treasure hunters temporarily gave up on further excavation. Before the year was over, John Smith bought property on the island, and when he married, he moved there to farm it. Daniel McGinnis also farmed part of the island. When John’s wife was pregnant with their first child, they went to the mainland to visit the family doctor. Smith told Dr. Simeon Lynds, a relative of his fellow treasure hunter Anthony Vaughn, about the discovery, and Dr. Lynds became interested—so much so that he decided to invest money into excavating the shaft.

      In 1801 Dr. Lynds formed the first syndicate that tried to conquer the Money Pit.2 He raised the necessary capital from thirty other prominent Nova Scotians and went to work. Using ropes and pulleys, workers first removed the mud that had settled into the shaft after the teenagers’ aborted attempt, and then dug further. Again they encountered oak platforms at ten-foot intervals. The Onslow Syndicate, so named for Dr. Lynd’s hometown, also came upon layers of charcoal, putty, and a brown fibrous material, which was enough to keep everyone involved excited. Apparently someone had taken a lot of trouble to hide what must be a very important treasure.

      At ninety feet, just over the expected oaken platform, they encountered another flagstone with an inscription. The flagstone’s symbols were not immediately deciphered. When they were shown to a professor of languages at a nearby Halifax college, he said that the inscription told of treasure buried another “forty feet below.”3 The code was a very common one, also used by Edgar Allan Poe in his story “The Gold Bug,” in which a simple cipher is used in a search for buried treasure. It was cracked by substituting the most frequently used symbol for the most commonly used letter in the English language, an E. The inscribed stone was made into a part of John Smith’s fireplace and later found its way to a bookstore in Halifax, where another syndicate used it to raise money. It disappeared when the store closed.

      Ninety-three feet below the surface, the treasure seekers discovered a new problem. After one more platform, they found that for every bucket of earth being raised, they had to bail out two buckets of water. Still their optimism held. It was late in the day, and they went home excited that the next day they surely would be breaking into the treasure trove. When they returned the next day they found that water had seeped in and flooded the shaft. Bailing took the place of digging, but water kept filling into the ninety-foot hole. Efforts were made to bail out the shaft with a pump, to no avail. The pump burst, and work was grudgingly discontinued. The flooding tunnel was a booby trap that would never cease defeating the treasure seekers. Had the inscription been a ruse? The excavators found no treasure, and forty feet below might well have been forty miles below because of the flooding.

      The next year the syndicate dug the second of the many shafts that would eventually be sunk. They reached one 110 feet and then started to tunnel over to the first shaft. But again, water flooded the new tunnel and, in turn, the new shaft. Patience and funds were quickly exhausted. Work would not resume again for forty years, although the “treasure” was not forgotten. In 1845 a new company was formed to reach the treasure in the pit. This second major venture included another Dr. Lynd, of Truro, Nova Scotia, and a mining engineer, James Pitbaldo. Anthony Vaughn and John Smith were nearing seventy years of age by the time the digging was started, but the pit had lost none of its appeal for them, and both assisted.

      It took twelve days to reach sixty-eight feet again (both of the other pits had since caved in), and they dug until a Saturday. On Sunday, before church, the pit was inspected, there was no water. After church, however, they found that the pit was again flooded. The syndicate had prepared for this contingency, which had caused the previous expeditions to fail. A platform was erected, and a horse-driven drill put in place. At ninety-eight feet the drill went through a platform that was found to be made of five-inch-thick spruce. Another foot down was a platform of oak. Surely they had reached the treasure. Then, after going through twenty-two inches of metal, they discovered still another oak platform.

      The drillers thought they had pierced a box and were into a second box. After another level of spruce, they reached clay. A second boring reached the oak “box,” which they now believed was the treasure trove, but the drill was bringing up only the brown fibrous material that had been encountered previously. The fiber later turned out to be coconut husks. Nothing besides the metal fragments that had already been brought up by the drill was found. According to Jotham McCully who was in charge of the drilling, these fragments resembled “links of watch chain,” and the drillers attempted to recover as much of the material as possible.4 During this operation there was a disturbance among the workers who were sorting through the salvaged material. One noticed the foreman, James Pitbaldo, pocket something he would not show the others. Although he said that he would not reveal it until the next meeting of the syndicate directors, he didn’t reveal it even then. He did try, through another businessman, Charles Archibald, of Acadia Iron Works, to buy the pit from the other directors, who refused to sell. The foreman was killed shortly after in another mining accident, taking his secret discovery to his grave.

      In 1850 the syndicate drilled still another shaft to 109 feet and made another attempt to tunnel to the original shaft. This new tunnel led the drillers to a significant discovery. The tunnel was being flooded by seawater. In fact, by watching the water in the pit and the water offshore, they discovered that the water level in the pit was rising and falling with the tides of the bay. The only conclusion they could draw was that there was a natural channel from the nearby beach that was the cause of the flooding. The beach, Smith’s Cove as it is called, was searched for signs of such a channel, and a spot where water rushed out from the sand was discovered. Surrounding this channel was more of the brown fibrous material.5 Under one layer was eelgrass, and under the eelgrass they found a mass of beach rock, free of sand. To the disbelief of all, the “natural” channel was confirmed to be artificial.

      The syndicate then built a coffer dam to reduce the water that flowed into the cove, allowing further investigation. The effort proved that this was truly the channel that flowed into the pit. Weeks of work went into building the stone and clay dam, and the men found that a total of five drains had been constructed into what now appeared to be an artificial beach. Even today, this would be considered a complex undertaking. The builders had dug a five-hundred-foot tunnel that was capable of channeling six hundred gallons of ocean water per minute, complete with a filter system that prevented the basins from becoming clogged after years or centuries of operation. In addition, they further disguised their work with an artificial beach that would protect the workings of this elaborate flooding system. In 1850 the idea was nothing short of remarkable and served as further proof that something very important was concealed under Oak Island.

      The men dismantled the five drains. Each of these five drains was spaced far apart from the others at their closest point to the ocean, but they converged closer to the shore. Each was constructed of twin rows of rock, eight inches apart, covered with stone slabs. Then more bad luck hit the expedition. An Atlantic storm destroyed the dam that had been built to hold back the waters. Because it was too late in the year to reconstruct it, the men decided to sink still another shaft between the shore and the pit, which would absorb any water from the destroyed drain system. After one shaft missed, a second was dug, which also became flooded. Just south of the original shaft, they dug out what would be the fourth shaft within fifty feet and were faced with another setback. The new shaft collapsed into a cave and then was flooded. Fortunately, it happened during a break in work, and no one was killed. The men refused to enter the shafts, however, and all work was suspended.

      By 1859 the syndicate again had raised the funds needed to resume work. Sixty-three men were hired, more shafts were dug, manual pumps were replaced by steam pumps. Still the Money Pit held its own against then-modern technology. A boiler explosion killed one of the men, and the work stopped again. The land surrounding the Money Pit was owned by John Smith and several others, but after the failure of what came to be called the Truro Syndicate, most of Oak Island was sold to Anthony Graves. Graves was a local farmer who never took part in the excavations, although he leased the land to the treasure hunters. A new syndicate was formed to lease the land and try to drill again, but this syndicate failed to raise the necessary money.

      In 1866 another company was formed with the goal of building a larger dam. Work started, but the Atlantic Ocean refused to cooperate, and the second dam was flooded. This short-lived company sank a few more shafts, which came to complicate matters for later ventures, but nothing new was found. Meanwhile, the land owned by Anthony Graves reverted to famland. In 1880 the owner was plowing when just eighty feet away from the original pit, the earth gave way. Excavators later guessed that a tunnel lying underneath caused the cave-in, but no one came forward to explore further. It was also said that a coin bearing the unlikely date of A.D. 1317 was discovered, but like the inscribed stone, the coin also disappeared. No modern numismatist was given the chance to study the discovery.

      In 1891 twenty-four-year-old Frederick Blair of Amherst, Nova Scotia, was next to take on the Money Pit. His firm, the Oak Island Treasure Company, was founded with sixty thousand dollars’ worth of shareholders’ money, half of which was needed to lease the land. Using modern technology to stop the water trap from flooding the shafts, the men drilled into the tunnel system and exploded 160 pounds of dynamite. The shafts still flooded. Experimenting with red dye, it was discovered that another water tunnel system existed, this time extending from a beach on the other side of the island. A deeper, six-hundred foot tunnel from the south side of the beach was a second trap to protect whatever was concealed in the Money Pit.

      Besides disappointment, the 1890s brought new discoveries. A drill had consistently veered off in one spot at a depth of 151 feet. Deciding the obstacle must be a chest, the drillers pierced whatever was deflecting their drill and brought up what appeared to be parchment. The drill had mangled the parchment, and only the letters “V.I.” could be read. Other efforts brought up a pick, a seal-oil lamp, and an axe head, items that Blair decided dated to at least the 1680s. The Blair expedition also suffered the second fatality in the history of the pit—a worker fell to his death from a hoisting platform.

      In 1897 more metal and concrete believed to be from a vault were brought up. Analysis in Halifax agreed that the substance was concrete and therefore man-made. Similarly, analysis of the “puddled clay” confirmed that it was not unlike the clay used by miners from the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries. Despite being more convinced than ever that a great treasure lay just below, personal bankruptcy threatened members of the company, and a new infusion of money proved elusive.

      In 1909 Franklin Delano Roosevelt, then a young lawyer with the establishment firm of Carter, Ledyard, and Milburn, was summering off the coast of New Brunswick. Having heard of the activity in nearby Nova Scotia, he joined the search. He, too, invested in Blair’s syndicate and brought in other well-heeled establishment figures, including Duncan Harris, Albert Gallatin, and John Shields (wealthy family members and friends) to invest alongside him. Roosevelt personally visited the site and even participated in the work. Surprisingly, Roosevelt was no stranger to treasure hunting. In 1896, as a young man, he had spent four days digging on Grand Manan Island for Captain Kidd’s treasure. As president, he once had a navy cruiser land on Cocos Island, 350 miles southwest of Costa Rica, where the privateer Edward Davis reputedly stashed loot from his adventures along the Spanish Pacific coast.6

      Franklin Roosevelt was not the last celebrity to become fascinated by Oak Island. Future syndicates organized to search for the treasure claimed investments from John Wayne, Admiral Richard Byrd, Errol Flynn, and Vincent Astor but left these notable investors no richer.7 The efforts of Blair’s group continued. Dynamite was again used, and more cement was discovered; as ever, no money and no treasure were given up by the Money Pit. Blair’s head engineer, Harry Bowdoin, claimed that “any competent engineer could clear up the affair in no time.”8 He was accused of using the expedition as a means of getting publicity for his own salvage company, and after his failure he declared in an article that he believed the Money Pit was nothing but an elaborate hoax.

      Smaller operations continued over the years until, in 1922, a major investor-participant was found. William Chappell of Sydney, Nova Scotia, and his son, Mel, joined Fred Blair. Mel was an engineer, and he decided that an open pit and a centrifugal pump would be used. Again the latest equipment that modern technology could muster failed to open the secret of the pit. Still, the open pit gave up an ancient anchor fluke and more concrete. Away from the pit another tantalizing clue was found by Chappell as he walked around the island. A stone triangle had been set up as a marker, which came to be regarded twenty years later as very significant. In 1937 Charles Roper, a Halifax-based land surveyor hired by Hedden, checked the measurements between certain drilled rocks and the triangle, but his survey offered no explanation for the marker. In the 1950s Fred Nolan, a surveyor from Bedford, Nova Scotia, agreed that numerous stones had been set in place as measurement markers. Nolan, who now owns part of the island, believes this triangle is a key to determining where the treasure actually lies.

      To date, the marker has been just a clue; however, it has not helped Nolan, or anyone else, find answers. The Chappell expedition, too, ran out of money, as all the preceding ventures had. The Depression of the 1930s did not stop two more minor attempts, but the Money Pit yielded no new secrets to the treasure seekers. In 1934 Gilbert Hedden, who had been the manager of a family-owned steel business in New Jersey, an auto dealer, and the mayor of Chatham in his home state, was just the wealthy investor Blair and Chappell were seeking. Chappell, who died in 1946, was sixty-seven, and his time was running out. Partnership with Hedden brought electricity to the island and a contract drilling team from the coal mining districts of Pennsylvania, but no results. After three years the expedition’s failure as well as business needs back home sent Hedden packing.

      Chappell and Hedden had not found any treasure, but they did add to the body of research on mysterious Oak Island. In addition to rediscovering the stone triangle, Heddon found other monuments. These included two distant boulders with mooring holes similar to those the Norse sailors left behind in Norway—and even Maine, according to some historians. Hedden brought in a surveyor who found large stones that had been placed there to form of an arrowhead. Working from the highest point of the island, the survey indicated another spot to dig near the original shaft, but nothing came from the new location. After the death of Chappell, his son Mel, who was ten years old when he first came to Oak Island in 1895, continued as owner and treasure hunter until 1975. After Hedden, another engineer, Edwin Hamilton, took over but failed to uncover anything new. By then so many shafts had been dug that the location of the original pit was uncertain. Hamilton’s efforts may have been successful in only one respect—he believed he had located one of the two water tunnels and the original shaft.

      In the 1950s George Green, a petroleum engineer from Texas, and John Lewis, a gold miner with a ten-thousand-dollar new drill, tried and failed to make new discoveries. In 1960 a stunt motorcycle rider, Robert Restall, his son, and two workers were added to the list of fatalities claimed by the unyielding Money Pit. Restall had devoted five years to trying to cope with the water problem and to compiling measurements of the island. One August day he was overcome by carbon monoxide in the shaft. His son went down to help him but also collapsed. Two others made heroic efforts to save the father and son but were also lost, and the worked again was halted. As always, others came forward to take their places. In 1965 a California geologist, Bob Dunfield, and a Miami contractor, Dan Blankenship, were next. Dunfield brought in heavy equipment, including two bulldozers, to clear the original pit area and a seventy-ton crane to deepen the hole and dig trenches to stop the water flow. He even built a causeway that now leads from the island to the shore of Nova Scotia. His critics were not few in number, and complaining townspeople and unexplained equipment problems plagued his operation. His work covered up the stone triangle, which has since been re-formed.

      
        
          	
            Chronology
          
        

        
          	 
          	 
          	 
          	1795
          	Discovery of Money Pit
        

        
          	 
          	 
          	 
          	1802
          	Onslow Syndicate
        

        
          	 
          	 
          	 
          	1849
          	Truro Syndicate
        

        
          	 
          	 
          	 
          	1861
          	Various Groups (Graves no longer involved)
        

        
          	 
          	 
          	 
          	1893
          	Blair (in 1897 the Chappells join him)
        

        
          	 
          	 
          	 
          	1909
          	Henry Bowdoin (Blair still involved)
        

        
          	 
          	 
          	 
          	1931
          	Chappell/Blair
        

        
          	 
          	 
          	 
          	1934
          	Hedden first becomes involved
        

        
          	 
          	 
          	 
          	1955
          	Greene (Chappell still involved)
        

        
          	 
          	 
          	 
          	1959
          	Restall does extensive work on drainage system
        

        
          	 
          	 
          	 
          	1965
          	Dunfield constructs causeway to the island and Blankenship takes over excavation
        

        
          	 
          	 
          	 
          	1970
          	Tobias forms Triton Alliance and starts the cur rent excavation
        

      

      In 1966 Dunfield’s time ran out as his deal with Mel Chappell was not renewed. He tried to buy the island from Chappell but was turned down. Dunfield left but Blankenship was hooked. From the day a Readers’ Digest article about the treasure captured his attention, he had become obsessed with Oak Island. He sold his successful contracting business in Miami and moved to Nova Scotia permanently. Four years later, in 1970, David C. Tobias of Montreal incorporated the latest syndicate under the name Triton Alliance. Named for a Greek demigod who was the son of the sea god Poseidon, Triton still runs the excavation of Oak Island today. Blankenship was one of the first investors, starting as a minority partner with Dunfield in 1965. With a farmer from New York, Dan Hanskee, the two have been working the pit ever since. In 1990 on my first visit to Oak Island, Dan Hanskee gave me a guided tour of the island while the work continued. Borehole 10X is the name given to the current shaft, which the drillers believe is closest to the original efforts. Borehole 10X was in operation then and until recently was still in operation. Mel Chappell has since died. Tobias, Blankenship, and Nolan all still own lots.

      With the excavation of Oak Island four years past its bicentennial, the investment of its most important current backer is keeping the project going. Tobias, a Montreal millionaire who runs more than one business, has the money to invest but not the time. For this reason, Blankenship and Tobias have been in equal partnership over the past several years. Other investors have been invited in through a stock offering, but even after the success of the famed treasure hunter Mel Fisher’s limited partnership, which paid off very handsomely, new investors have not always been easy to find. Tobias continues to sink his own funds into the operation, and between the costs of legal wrangling and digging, his personal contribution has passed the million-dollar mark. The Triton Alliance is now a consortium of fifty-two American and Canadian investors, including George Jennison, a past president of the Toronto Stock Exchange; Charles Brown, a Boston developer; Donald Webster, a Toronto-based financier; Bill Sobey, of Canada’s largest supermarket chain; Bill Parkin, a weapon systems designer for the Pentagon; and Gordon Coles, Nova Scotia’s deputy attorney general.

      The Triton group has allied itself with another syndicate to fund the exploration. The newest group is called Oak Island Discoveries, a partnership between a Boston millionaire, David Mugar, and film director William Cosel. Triton and Oak Island Discoveries together are funding a series of tests that will determine their next step. The prestigious Woods Hole Oceanographic Institute is conducting the testing on the shafts with equipment that is similar to that used in exploring the Titanic in 1991. If the testing is successful, Tobias and Mugar will go on to raise another ten million dollars. The contribution of Tobias goes well beyond the job of fund-raising. Under his leadership the excavation has seen the most scientific approach to date as well as the most extensive historic research into just who is responsible for the elaborate pit and what might be found someday. Tobias used the resources of the National Museum of Natural Science in Ottawa, which confirmed that the fibrous material was coconut fiber. He turned to the Steel Company of Canada to analyze the iron spikes found in the coffer dam and found that the spikes had been forged prior to 1790.9

      In 1990 Tobias said he was convinced that the English navigator and privateer Sir Francis Drake was the primary candidate for the person responsible for the Money Pit; Drake had raided the Spanish Main for Queen Elizabeth I, sharing in the spoils, and Tobias contended that Drake needed to preserve a portion of his gains outside of England. He believes that the pit was Drake’s stash of part of the loot he had taken for Queen Elizabeth I. His well-researched theory, however, is not the only one with merit. After two hundred years of work there are certain facts that have been established without doubt. First, the underground workings exist and are man-made. Second, whoever constructed the Money Pit was knowledgeable about advanced hydraulics. Third, the work, which must have taken a year or longer, was completed before 1750, when settlement would have made such construction impossible to keep secret. Apart from what we know is true, it is possible to make assumptions as well. What was buried had to be of considerable value for someone to go to such lengths to conceal it. The Money Pit has so far defeated any attempts to claim its secret, and there is a very good chance that a treasure of incredible value is still there, awaiting discovery.

    

  
    
      
        
          Chapter 2
        
      

      THEORIES AND SUSPECTS: WHO DUG THE MONEY PIT
AND WHAT LIES BELOW

      The Money Pit has defied engineers and excavators for more than two hundred years, and so has the mystery of just who is responsible for its existence. A complete list of suspects might include any individual or group of people that are known to have inhabited the area. A people referred to by anthropologists as Paleo-Indians, or the Red-paint people, were in the Canadian Maritime Provinces from as early as 8500 B.C. While little is known about them, it is safe to say that they were not aware of advanced hydraulics.

      As early as A.D. 700 and as late as A.D. 1100, a more advanced culture inhabited the Atlantic coasts. They are generally referred to as the Micmac peoples, a name derived from their term nikmaq, meaning “my kin friends.”1 The Micmac were nomadic, dividing their year between wintering inland and summering along the Atlantic coast. They became skilled at fishing the coastal Atlantic and by the eighteenth century had developed a writing system.2 Again, we can eliminate this group from the suspect list because they lacked both the motive and the means to construct an underground vault as complex as the Money Pit.

      Conventional histories of North America often start with the state-sponsored explorations of the New World. This would leave us with a narrow time frame that would begin in 1497, when the first European explorer reached Canada, and end sometime before 1795, when the area became populated and the pit was discovered. This first explorer was John Cabot, an Italian sailing under the English flag five years after Columbus reached the Caribbean. Cabot is given credit as the first European to have reached the Atlantic coast of Canada. He made landfall on June 24, 1497, which was Saint John the Baptist’s feast day. He established no colonies but may have opened up the coast of Newfoundland and Labrador for European fishermen. In all likelihood, they had been fishing the rich banks well before Columbus, although they knew the area as a fishing ground and not as a “New World” or the sought-after passage to Cathay for which Columbus had been searching.3

      Five years after Cabot’s venture, a Portuguese expedition to America took place. Pedro de Barcelos, a landowner from the Azores, led the expedition. On board was a friend and fellow Azorean, João Fernandes.4 Because Fernandes’s time away from the sea was spent farming, his nickname was lavrador, meaning “farmer” in Portuguese. Although the exact landfall of this expedition is debated, the Canadian province of Labrador received its name from the nickname of João Fernandes, a farmer on expedition.

      The Portuguese, too, were disappointed in finding only icy waters and no exotic trading ports of the Orient. Also sailing under the flag of Portugal was Gaspar Corte Real.5 He may have reached Newfoundland, but records of his journey are sparse and inexact. Both the date and the length of time of his expedition are debated. On his second voyage his entire expedition was lost. A brother, Miguel, set sail to find him but was also lost. If the rich fishing banks off Newfoundland and Labrador had ever been a secret, they were no longer. Bretons, Basques, French, and English fishing ships did their own unrecorded exploration. Fishermen did not keep logs, but they did leave behind certain clues. Some historians claim the Portuguese were there much earlier than the accepted dates and point to the native North American name for the Grand Banks—baccaloes, which is the Portuguese word meaning “cod fish.”6

      By the time another Italian, Giovanni Verrazano, sailing under the French flag, reached the New World, fishing fleets and fishing shacks could be seen along the rivers and bays the Europeans would “discover.” His expedition took place in 1524 and lasted for only a few short months. Verrazano received credit for giving Nova Scotia one of its earliest names, which he is said to have put on the maps as “Arcadia.”7 This name will feature prominently in the tale of just how an ancient treasure reached the New World and the Money Pit. While its modern meaning holds little of interest to the uninitiated, for a certain few, the theme of Arcadia and the transmission of an underground stream of knowledge passed through generations is of paramount importance.

      Giovanni Verrazano, too, might have been part of an elite group, as were several of the important world explorers. He lived in a world still dominated by the terrifying hold that the Inquisition exerted. New ideas, including the possibility of undiscovered lands, were suspect and could earn a man of science prison and torture as easily as a reward. Explorers, and men of science, had a need to attach themselves to the several societies (which we will meet later) that are known to have existed at this time and that allowed a certain degree of insurance against persecution. Verrazano’s family crest included a six-pointed star, which some believe indicated he was not the Christian he was purported to be. Religion played an important role during the Inquisition, and a non-Catholic would be disqualified from leading a mission of such importance. The religion of Columbus is still a matter of nagging debate.8

      Just where did Verrazano place the name Arcadia? Reports of the early explorers and mapmakers do not always agree. One mapmaker shows Arcadia as being north of the Hudson River. Others say it was the Outer Banks of North Carolina and correctly state that Verrazano derived the name from a very popular piece of literature by Jacobo Sannazaro, set in Greece.9 Sannazaro’s Arcadia had been printed fifteen separate times before Verrazano reached America. Because Verrazano correctly noted the latitude, Morison for one believes Maine and the Canadian Maritimes are Arcadia.10 Arcadia, as defined by Sannazaro, was the idyllic world, a Garden of Eden lost to the modern (medieval) world. It was life in a pure state, where thought and deed were free to wander away from the threat of official punishment by church and state. The English philosopher Sir Francis Bacon and others believed this world could exist only outside Europe and carried the theme further. They believed in the creation of a new country in which certain freedoms would be guaranteed and all religions would be tolerated. Bacon described this country in his New Atlantis. Interestingly enough, the French name for Nova Scotia was L’Acadie, a label they applied from the native Micmac word for the “land.” Mapmakers may have made the two names into one, and Nova Scotia was for a while called L’Acadie and Arcadia.

      Verrazano’s trip to America in 1524 had been short compared to other such European voyages. He left the Madeira Islands off the coast of Africa on January 17th and was back in France by mid-June of the same year. The only place he had spent any time was in the area of what is now Rhode Island, where he described the natives as “the most civilized in customs” and “inclining more to whiteness”—a description that might indicate both previous contact and intermarriage with earlier European explorers.11 Verrazano was fond of Greek place-names and gave Rhode Island its name after his coastal visit, again taking the name from Sannazaro’s work.

      The French navigator Jacques Cartier was next to sail to the New World, with a higher purpose than fishing in mind.12 In 1534 Cartier’s fleet encountered a large French fishing vessel, which Cartier claimed was “lost,” obviously annoyed that he was not the first to reach the region. He explored the coasts of Newfoundland, Prince Edward Island, and the Gaspé Peninsula. In his travels he met up with two fleets of Micmacs, each consisting of forty to fifty vessels. They wanted to trade with the single French ship, but being outnumbered Cartier was cautious. Finally, he did permit a small convoy of nine large canoes to dock near enough to the French to exchange goods. The incident seems to give evidence of a native understanding of trade that was developed from past experience. As Cartier sailed farther up the Saint Lawrence River, he encountered another fleet of canoes, this time carrying Huron natives. He thought the Huron were like the Micmac, but in appearance they seemed much poorer; he wrote that their only homes were overturned boats. It is more likely that he encountered a Huron fishing fleet far away from home and making temporary camp. Cartier’s trip back to Europe took only three weeks, demonstrating just how easy it is for experienced sailors to cross the North Atlantic.

      In 1604 the French explorer Samuel de Champlain reached Nova Scotia and established a temporary settlement at La Have in Nova Scotia, fifteen miles away from Oak Island.13 He later moved to another settlement on the Bay of Fundy, where he stayed for three years. Champlain’s settlements in Nova Scotia were for the most part short-lived, and little activity took place apart from fur trading with the native population. The relationship between France and England in Europe was hostile, and such hostility was carried to the New World. The ownership of the area was contested by the British and the French, but no major military operations took place apart from the building of a fort at Louisbourg on Cape Breton Island, far from the Oak Island area, in 1644. Engineers were imported for the construction of the fort, which gave rise to a theory that an “underground bank” might have been constructed on Oak Island. Military payrolls would often be in the form of gold and silver, and the threat of raids on land and piracy on the seas formed the basis for the need of such a repository. The theory is further based on the availability of labor. It can thus be said that the first suspect, the French military, had both a motive and a means to construct such a complex “bank” as the Money Pit. The theory has merit, but since there is no precedence for such construction, its merit is only that it simply cannot be ignored. The French who built Louisbourg were not in control of Oak Island and the Mahone Bay region for long, however, leaving it to the British in a later treaty.

      Between 1606 and 1749 most of the southern half of Nova Scotia was uninhabited. On the northern coast along the Bay of Fundy and the Minas Basin, sixty French Acadian families settled. In 1632 several of these families crossed the southern part of the peninsula and settled at La Have; present day Lunenburg is not far from Oak Island. The continuing hostility between France and England led to the Treaty of Utrecht, which transferred Nova Scotia to England in 1715. It did not stop the growth of the French settlements already in place. Nova Scotia became more rapidly populated by the English after Halifax was founded in 1749, forty miles from Mahone Bay. The British, however, were concerned that the Acadian population was possibly as high as ten thousand, so they induced British colonists to settle in the area. Many of these settlers came from American colonies in New England. Ten years later, in 1759, the Shoreham Grant gave land to these settlers from New England. At that time, Oak Island, one of 350 islands in Mahone Bay, was divided and deeded but not settled. By 1795, when the three adolescents went digging for treasure, it was still uninhabited. Interestingly enough, to those who believe pirates built the Money Pit, the name Mahone derives from the French word mahonne, meaning a low-lying pirate ship mostly used in Mediterranean waters.

      In 1755 the hostilities between the English and French continued. The British concern about being outnumbered by the French caused them to forcibly remove six thousand French Acadians to points from Georgia to Louisiana. The poem entitled Evangeline by the American poet Henry Wadsworth Longfellow immortalizes this forced exodus. Many stayed in the American South, where “Acadian” became corrupted to “Cajun.” Others found their way back to their Nova Scotia home. Along with the skirmishes between natives and colonists and the wars between the French and the English, there were pirates. With France and Britain almost always at war, privateering and piracy did not cease.

      The list of possibilities of just who could be responsible for burying a treasure on Oak Island is not a short one. From the nineteenth century to the present, those who searched for the treasure during the summer would spend their winters rooting out leads to what they might eventually bring up from the depths of the Money Pit. Theories of who hid the treasure are as numerous as the islands in Mahone Bay: the crown jewels of the royalty of England and France, pirate banks, Viking hoards, the original manuscripts of William Shakespeare, and even the booty of a Mayan ship are said to be buried there. There are even theories that declare that the pit was not dug to hold a treasure trove at all but was used as an elaborate hydraulic lift to clean and repair ships. The tunnels and drains were employed simply to raise and lower the level of water.

      This theory, not unlike Oak Island itself, has a few holes in it. The first is that most reasonable estimates of the time required to construct the Money Pit say it took more than a year as well as an immense amount of labor. Since the Bay of Fundy is within close sailing range of Mahone Bay, and this bay may have the greatest difference in sea level between high tide and low tide of any location in North America, there existed a much simpler method of what is called “careening” a ship. A ship can be beached and repaired at low tide and carried back out to sea at high tide. No elaborate structure would be necessary. Another hole in the theory is that no such complicated structure similar to the Oak Island Money Pit exists anywhere else in the world. No precedent for such a complex ship-cleaning device exists, and the area would be a very unlikely place to invent one.

      There are also claims that the pit was a natural occurrence—a sinkhole that sucked in logs or one in which stones and logs were simply thrown in to close the hole. Michael Bradley, an author discussed in Fanthorpe’s Secrets of Rennos-le-Chateau, proposed the theory of a “limestone blowhole” created by nature. These theories ignore the fact that the flagstones were brought from the mainland, that the oaken platforms were evenly spaced, that cove drains with foreign fibers were put in place, that a false beach was built, and that stones were inscribed. The theory also overlooks the fact that the island was uninhabited before the earliest digging started and that the need to fill in a sinkhole on an uninhabited island would be minimal at best. The Money Pit was clearly man-made.

      In this light, it is necessary to compile a list of candidates who could be responsible for burying the treasure and to more closely examine the time frame. While official and state-sponsored voyages of exploration are often a starting point, there are also unofficial and unsponsored journeys. Our first suspects then are the Vikings.

      
        
          The Vikings
        

        The Norse travelers can be considered suspects because they are one group that we now can say with certainty crossed the Atlantic before Columbus. Evidence in favor of the Vikings must start with their reputation as marauders of the sea. As such, it is no stretch of the imagination to believe that they might have had treasure to bury. While it was once a matter of debate, we now know that the Vikings had reached North America by A.D. 1001 at the latest. That this date is no longer in question is testament to the persistent effort of the respected team of Helge Ingstad (a former governor of East Greenland and Spitsbergen) and Anne Stine Ingstad, an archeologist.14 Basing their belief on an Icelandic map dated to 1590 and directions in the Norse sagas, they decided to explore Newfoundland. There they uncovered Norse ruins on that province’s northern coast. After lengthy excavations at L’Anse aux Meadows, the Ingstads proved that a farming community had existed there, able to sustain one to three hundred hardy souls.

        The remains of the five- to six-room sod houses, a smithy, a kiln, a bathhouse, and several boat sheds have been excavated. Numerous artifacts, including iron nails and rivets, a soapstone spinning wheel, an oil lamp, and bronze cloak pins, were also recovered. The excavation, begun in the 1960s, firmly established that the Vikings had at least one settlement in the New World five hundred years before Columbus. L’Anse aux Meadows has been reconstructed to show what life was like for the Norse settlers, and the area is now a Canadian historic park. The discovery of other Norse artifacts in New England, farther north and west in Canada, and as far west as Minnesota in the United States (the authenticity of these artifacts remains questionable) do not merit the acceptance that the Newfoundland farm does, although there is little doubt that the Viking ships could have reached Nova Scotia.

        The Vikings, however, lacked the means and motivation to construct the Money Pit. Those who reached the New World, by island-hopping through the North Atlantic, were not plunderers, but farmers.15 Unlike their Norse cousins—the invaders who traveled and raided the Mediterranean, the Black Sea, the navigable rivers of Europe, and the coasts of nearby Ireland—these Vikings were poor even by European standards of their time. They did not have any treasure to hide, nor did they have the ability to construct such complicated facilities and complex hydraulic systems.

      

      
        
          Native North Americans
        

        Another theory is that native North Americans may have been responsible for the Money Pit. Certainly they were capable of much more than the Europeans have given them credit for. They had complex governments, established trade, and advanced scientific knowledge that went beyond the ability of early explorers to comprehend. Only now are we able to understand the rock structures that served as solar and lunar calendars, found in the Southwest and northern Mexico. Similar structures, with grander designs, have been discovered in New England but are still dismissed since they do not fit into our understanding of the native peoples who populated most of North America before Columbus.16 While we now accept the idea that trade took place between native tribes from Florida and those of New England and that southeastern tribes traded as far away as the Rockies, stone calendars as sophisticated as Stonehenge are dismissed because many historians are afraid of the implications. Still, there is no record of native North Americans having prized a monetary treasure enough to commit to such a great amount of labor to constructing a hiding place for their prize. Indeed, nomadic peoples would often find hoarding an inconvenience. The opposite extreme, their custom of potlatch, exhibits the belief in giving rather than receiving.17 Despite the complicated calendars and mounds found across North America, none have shown evidence of a knowledge of advanced hydraulics. With a lack of motive and means, Native Americans can be eliminated from our list.

      

      
        
          Spanish Marauders and Incan Defenders
        

        The Spanish may have been the first settlers in America to amass a great deal of wealth for their efforts. Spanish treasure ships laden with gold and silver would often fall victim to shipwrecks and pirates that sought the treasure for themselves. The excavators of the Money Pit left few stones unturned in their search for answers. In their desperation they went to any lengths to further their knowledge. Psychics and dowsers were consulted along with scientists and engineers. In one of their less conventional attempts, Frederick Blair and Mel Chappell hired a psychic known as an “automatic writer,” a medium who allows the dead to communicate with the living. According to this medium, the treasure hidden deep in the Money Pit was Incan gold.

        The story told was that about 1524, the Spanish conquistador Francisco Pizarro reached the Incan city of Tumbes in Peru.18 He did not yet have the authority to loot their treasure, so he left two men to guard the city. Four years later, after finally receiving authorization from King Charles V of Spain, Pizarro returned to find the city empty and in ruins. It had fallen victim to a civil war between King Atahualpa and his half-brother, Huáscar, the pretender to the throne. In the course of Huáscar’s bid for victory the city had been plundered. Through the medium, John Wicks, the spirit of a priest who had been one of the men left behind by Pizarro at Tumbes told Frederick Blair and Mel Chappell that the treasure had been carried overland to Panama and put on Incanbuilt ships. These ships were battered by storms on their voyage north and came ashore on Nova Scotia, where the specially constructed hiding place was built.

        Most would call the story preposterous; it is in fact complete fiction. History records the fact that it was Atahualpa who emerged victorious from the civil war, and he kept all of his gold and silver at Tumbes. This treasure he later turned over to Pizarro, filling a room once with gold and twice with silver in an attempt to buy his freedom. The Spaniards had him strangled. Spanish gold has always captured the romantic imagination of treasure hunters. It is possible that of all the ships that were supposed to have crossed the Atlantic with bulging holds of booty, one may have been diverted to a secret stash of some colonial governor, never to be found by its owners or by later historians. If so, it would more likely have been buried by Spanish conquistadors, rather than Incan sailors, in the cold North Atlantic. Spanish ships did sail with the currents on their return trip and would often go far north, within four hundred miles of Nova Scotia.

        The ships that were lost during the Spanish conquest of Mexico and South America number in the hundreds, and not all of them went down off the coast of Florida or in the Caribbean. In fact, the North Atlantic has more than its share of individual wrecks. In Nova Scotia, tiny Sable Island has claim to 250 such shipwrecks. The odds are high that Spanish ships, blown off course, are among those that lie wrecked in the treacherous waters of Nova Scotia. Could one or more have landed on tiny Oak Island and, unable to return home, buried its treasure under such a massive structure? The Spanish did employ miners for operations in South America, and it would not have been uncommon to have a mining engineer on board.

        In The Big Dig, D’Arcy O’Connor proposed that such an event may have happened.19 A battered ship is forced to land for repairs and is unburdened of its weighty cargo. The agent of the king who had the responsibility of safekeeping the king’s treasure orders a vault be constructed. Here the treasure will be stored until a better ship can be sent back. Once the work is done, the wounded ship, repaired as well as possible under the circumstances, sails off again, only to sink at sea. Thus there are no witnesses and no evidence—only a truly secret treasure. The idea of gold and silver looted by the Spanish conquistadors is intriguing. If the Spanish themselves did not build the elaborate Money Pit, there is the possibility that one of the many pirates and privateers who raided the Spanish Main was responsible. One of history’s most well-known privateers was Sir Francis Drake.

      

      
        
          Sir Francis Drake
        

        In 1990 I spoke with David Tobias, the current owner of most of Oak Island and the force behind much of the excavation since 1970. His theory is that Sir Francis Drake had the pit constructed to hide a portion of his privateering spoils. Drake made his name raiding the Pacific coast of Spain’s territory in the New World, where the Spanish assumed the English would not tread. That he was never hung as a pirate is testimony to his relationship with the Crown. He started his career young, capturing small ships in American waters. In 1572 he was ready for the big time and joined forces with William Le Testu, a French pirate who was later hung for his joint efforts with Drake. Drake not only survived but returned home a wealthy man.

        In 1576 Drake had a private meeting with Queen Elizabeth I, presenting a secret plan within a secret plan, according to James A. Williamson, his biographer.20 His cover story was that he was going to sail into the Pacific to discover lands to claim for his queen. This secret could safely be leaked, since it caused no embarrassment to the queen. The real secret may have been an arrangement to split the rewards of piracy with the Crown. On Drake’s voyage, his ship, the Golden Hind, circumnavigated the globe after taking on twenty-six tons of Spanish gold. Because Spain and England were not at war at the time, his acts could not openly be sponsored by Queen Elizabeth. We know, however, that he returned home as a hero, allowed to lead an openly wealthy lifestyle. He purchased the home of a rival and spent his own funds improving the water supply of his hometown, Plymouth, England.21

        After a few years of enjoying the good life, he returned to sea with the blessing of the queen. England was by then at war. During 1585 he raided ports and looted ships from the Caribbean to the Azores. Ten years later he set out for what became his last raid, he died of dysentery in Panama less than a year after setting sail. Tobias claims that after one of Drake’s raids he employed a boatload of Cornish miners to construct the secret treasure depository on Oak Island. The idea is certainly plausible in that Drake had the ability to mount such an expedition, which would have been too costly for most other individual pirates. He also could employ the technology, which an ordinary pirate could not. I considered the theory and at first rejected it—ironically, because it fit too well. It appeared to be just another “Captain Kidd” theory, which gave this short-lived pirate credit for half of the treasure stories of the Atlantic coast. Looking further, the theory seemed more believable but still appeared to lack a motive. Drake had no reason to hide his wealth; in fact, the act of buying his rival’s home was characteristic of Drake’s flaunting of his wealth. He publicly spent his funds, and even though his acts of piracy were never officially condoned, they were officially rewarded. In 1580 he was even knighted by the queen.

        It was wise to have friends in high places in the sixteenth century. The Inquisition had blazed across Europe starting in 1558, and Queen Elizabeth I of England had no room for its persecution of those who did not adhere to the Catholic doctrine, until she, too, was excommunicated. One reason for her expulsion from the Church was her belief that kings and queens could heal with their touch. She had even consulted her astrologer, John Dee, to fix the date for her coronation. Dee later wrote a book entitled The Perfect Art of Navigation, which convinced Drake of the possibility of circumnavigating the globe. While she lived her intellectual life through magicians and alchemists like Dr. Dee and Dr. Philip Sidney, Elizabeth lived a life of adventure through her privateers Sir Francis Drake and Sir Walter Raleigh. Raleigh, however, fell out of the queen’s favor and was banished from her court.

        Under James I, Raleigh was imprisoned for conspiracy against the Crown and languished in prison until 1616. There he wrote his own history of the world. In it he declared the sea god of the Philistines, Dagon, to be the same god as the Greek Triton. Just why this was important to him is unknown, but the god of Greek mythology has some significance to the Oak Island mystery. Triton was the god who came to the aid of the argonauts in their search for the Golden Fleece. Raleigh also wrote of his belief that the philosophers’ stone, the hypothetical substance that medieval alchemists believed would convert base metals to gold, was the Golden Fleece sought by Jason and his argonauts. Both Raleigh and Drake had pushed Elizabeth to pursue her rights to land in the New World. Since the Elizabethan court included magicians and alchemists like Dr. Dee, was there a prevalent belief that the philosophers’ stone, or the Golden Fleece, was in America? The Elizabethan court was a whirlwind of intrigue, and with the likes of the mysterious Dr. Dee and plotters like Sir Francis Bacon pushing Elizabeth to take her rightful place as Queen of America, we cannot rule out agents of the court as the catalyst for Oak Island’s construction.22 Another intriguing theory, however, is the belief that the original works of Shakespeare lie hidden in the Money Pit.

      

      
        
          Shakespeare’s Manuscripts
        

        More than one hundred years after the Bard’s death, a British clergyman,
James Wilmot, decided in the 1770s that he would write about the man who was one of his two favorite writers.23 He went to Stratford-upon-Avon to collect stories about his subject, only to discover that there were none to be found. He then tried to locate books that once belonged to Shakespeare, since surely a man displaying such a worldly intelligence would have had a large private stock of books. Those, too, were not to be found. What Wilmot did discover was that this respected writer was a butcher’s son who took up acting, a less than respectable career in those times. He also determined that most of the stories about the butcher’s son were made up by people who stood to gain by the cottage industry of Shakespeare idolatry in Stratford-upon-Avon. Finally, Wilmot came to the conclusion that the works of Shakespeare were not his works at all. Shakespeare did not even own any of the original manuscripts at his death, nor did he provide in his will for any to go to friends or relatives. In fact, Wilmot concluded, the plays written by Shakespeare were written by his other favorite author, Sir Francis Bacon.

        Bacon had the worldly intelligence that Shakespeare only seemed to have. He had studied such varied topics as botany, law, government, history, and medicine, while there is no evidence that Shakespeare could even read or write. As a member of the Elizabethan court, Bacon had reason to hide the fact that he was writing for the theater. It was at best less than respectable; at worst it was mocking to the queen, who did not appreciate the works of Shakespeare.

        Later, in 1857, another British writer, William Henry Smith, published Bacon and Shakespeare, which chronicled the lives of both men and came to the same conclusion. Bacon had the knowledge to write the works; Shakespeare did not.24 In America, Delia Bacon (no relation to Sir Francis), a schoolteacher, author, and lecturer, came to the same conclusion. Her work led others to question Shakespeare’s authorship; the list eventually grew to include John Greenleaf Whittier, Ralph Waldo Emerson, Nathaniel Hawthorne, and Oliver Wendell Holmes.25 Ten years after Smith’s book appeared, a librarian commissioned by the duke of Northumberland to seek out and preserve original manuscripts discovered manuscripts that had been in Bacon’s possession and a list of other works, not in the folio, that were allegedly written by Shakespeare.26 From then on, other books on the subject of Bacon and Shakespeare were released. There may be as many as four hundred such books covering the debate. Among those writers supporting the Bacon-as-author thesis were such luminaries as Walt Whitman and Benjamin Disraeli. So far, no one has located the manuscripts.

        The debate still rages today. William Shakespeare was the son of an illiterate butcher. His own children are known to have been illiterate, and there is evidence that he himself was at best “unlettered” and that he was paid by a supporter of Bacon for the use of his name.27 The mystery of the original manuscripts of the works attributed to Shakespeare still plagues supporters of the Bacon theory. While the manuscripts of most important English writers have made their way into the museums of Britain, not a single one of Shakespeare’s has surfaced. Bacon alluded to the fact that his real self would not be known until after his death. Why would his real self have to be so concealed? The answer can be found in the climate of the Elizabethan court.

        His very close friend was Henry Wriothesely, the earl of Southampton. The earl is known in history as the early patron of Shakespeare’s works. In fact, he allowed one of the Bard’s works to be performed on the estate of another friend, the earl of Essex. The play was Richard II, in which Shakespeare questioned the divine rights of kings (and queens). Essex and the earl of Southampton were then ordered arrested by the queen and attempted to start a rebellion to avoid their fate. The rebellion and their attempt to avoid death both failed. Sir Walter Raleigh and Sir Francis Bacon were forced to choose sides—they sided with the queen.

        Supporters of the Bacon theory believe this event to be the motive behind the concealment of the manuscripts by Bacon. In 1911 a certain Dr. Orville Owen came from Detroit to England to search for Bacon’s secret manuscripts.28 From clues he had found in one Bacon text, he led an expedition to Wales. Underneath the silt in the Wye River in southeast Wales, he found a stone and cement vault with coded inscriptions. The vault itself was empty. Dr. Owen and others believed the works had been there but later were removed to an even more secure location. The same text that took Dr. Owen to Wales contained a formula for preserving texts in mercury. The fact that Bacon had written of concealing works in mercury, and of constructing artificial springs, was brought to the attention of Oak Island treasure seeker Gilbert Hedden, by a student at Michigan State University, Burrell Ruth, in 1939. Hedden acknowledged that flasks of mercury had indeed been found in a dump on the island.29

        Sir Francis Bacon believed in the ideal of a New World. His most well-known work is the utopian fable The New Atlantis. In it, he proposed an ideal society, as many had hoped life in the New World would be. Bacon and his circle of friends in the Elizabethan court ended up owning property in the New World, although Bacon himself never made the trip to Canada to visit his property. The theory that Oak Island could be the repository of the underground works of a very public man has certain merits. The time frame fits, in light of the fact that Nova Scotia was parceled during Bacon’s time. The means were also available, since Drake had miners and engineers at his disposal. There is motive at least on the part of Bacon himself. The idea of constructing the Money Pit complete with the massive expense; the hiring and swearing to secrecy of hundreds of engineers, miners, and laborers; and the transatlantic voyages required, however, seem elaborate at the least.

        The theory that the Shakespearean originals were simply added to an already massive treasure hoard begins to hold water when the collusion of those in the court of Elizabeth is factored in. Bacon certainly had one foot in the visible world as a member of both Elizabeth’s court and later that of her successor, James I. He had another foot in a darker world. In addition to harboring beliefs that challenged the rights of royalty, authoring works under the pseudonym of a living person, betraying friends to save his own neck, and taking bribes of which he was later convicted, he was also reputed to be homosexual (as was the earl of Southampton).30 If all that were not enough baggage in a time when people were regularly executed for religious beliefs, Bacon may have been a member of a secret society known as the Invisible College.

        This group was composed of those who struggled for academic freedom in a world where science was decreed heresy and witchcraft. Numerous scholars, scientists, biologists, doctors, and philosophers communicated with each other, but away from the watchful eye of the Church. In 1660 the Invisible College emerged into the world as the Royal Society, but in Bacon’s time it was still deserving of suspicion. Bacon was at least aware of the group through his contact with several of its members. The Bacon link to Drake, Raleigh, Dr. Dee, and others will be shown to be very significant, but other theories abound. The next in a long line of suspects is the group we call the Acadians.

      

      
        
          The Acadians
        

        The British constantly harassed these French settlers because they were afraid that the French outnumbered the English. One theory proposes that the Acadians, once prosperous farmers and traders, built the Money Pit in preparation for raids by the English. The Acadians, of course, would have been correct in preparing for attack by the British when they took control of Nova Scotia. As we saw, the French were, in fact, forcibly evacuated from their homes and moved to locations as far away as Louisiana. The problem with the Acadians as suspects in the Money Pit scheme is that there is no evidence to back the theory that they ever amassed enough wealth to justify spending the time and effort to construct the secret complex. Religious persecution in Europe has contributed to another theory as well.

      

      
        
          The English Catholics, the French Crown Jewels, and Exiled Huguenots
        

        In the seventeenth century, the rising Protestant religion banned the trappings of the Catholic Church. Statues regarded as idolatry as well as gold and silver objects were confiscated from churches all over Britain. After the execution of Charles I in 1649, a hoard of these confiscated items disappeared. Oak Island theories have suggested that these items found their way to the New World and to the bottom of the Money Pit. In the same vein, the crown jewels of the French royalty, which disappeared during the French Revolution, also may have found their way into the Oak Island complex. It is a romantic idea, without any record or substantiation.

        Another, more plausible possibility adds the French Huguenots to the list of candidates. In 1685 fifty thousand Huguenots left France to avoid persecution. Many went to America. From their home port in La Rochelle, France, these settlers found their way to New York and a town they named New Rochelle. In 1928 Dunbar Hinrichs, a historian from Nova Scotia, said that he had been told a story by a man in France, the story of an underground vault built in Haiti and used to store Huguenot wealth.31 The unnamed storyteller also said that a second vault had been built in Nova Scotia. In Haiti evidence of a secret underground repository was supposedly found in 1947. Efforts to uncover it made by those excavating its Nova Scotia counterpart met with failure.

      

      
        
          Everybody’s Favorite: Captain Kidd
        

        The most commonly accepted candidate for just who it was that hid the treasure in the Money Pit is Captain William Kidd. Before his execution for murder and piracy in 1701, Kidd made a last-ditch effort to save his life. He told the British authorities that he would reveal the location of a treasure worth one hundred thousand pounds sterling. While he said it was buried in the South China Sea, treasure hunters took that to mean it could lie anywhere from the warm seacoasts of the Caribbean to the colder waters of the Canadian Atlantic.

        Kidd’s career as a pirate was relatively brief.32 As a successful and wealthy merchant skipper based in New York City, he led raids against the French and, starting in 1689, against pirates. In 1691 the Commonwealth of Massachusetts hired him to catch a group of pirates that had fled to Nova Scotia. Receiving a tenth of the booty as his reward, he found it to be a lucrative business. And so, like Sir Francis Drake, he became a privateer. Kidd was in the employ of King William III of England, his mission to suppress piracy. His territory stretched from New England to the Caribbean. Once at sea, Kidd began to indiscriminately attack anything that moved, including one ship flying the English colors. If this were not enough, he was also accused of the on-board murder of a member of his crew. In 1699 while wintering in the Indian Ocean, Kidd discovered that he was being denounced as a pirate and could expect to be arrested.

        As insurance against losing all, he decided to take precautions. He transferred most of the loot captured from the Quedagh Merchant to another ship, the St. Anthony. The St. Anthony stopped first in Lewes, a town in Delaware, where some of the treasure was buried. Its second stop was in Oyster Bay, on the northern coast of Long Island, where Kidd may have buried more treasure. Sailing east from Long Island Sound, the ship then went to Gardiners Island on the extreme eastern end of Long Island and buried still more treasure. Other stops included Block Island and Rhode Island. Only on Gardiners Island would treasure be found and removed by agents of the Crown. Kidd’s last stop before landing in New York City was to deliver a jeweled necklace to the wife of the earl of Bellomont. Not happy with the attempted bribe, Bellomont, the governor of New York, sent Kidd to Boston where he was arrested and sent to England for trial. The earl had financed Kidd and was entitled to seventy-five percent of the booty Kidd had captured. It was Bellomont’s belief not only that he was not getting his fair share but also that Kidd’s exploits would bring the governor under attack. Meanwhile, the Quedagh Merchant, Kidd’s other ship, set sail to the West Indies. There she may have been taken by the man Kidd had entrusted to protect the ship. One man claimed that she was burned in the harbor at Santo Domingo. There was never any evidence that Kidd buried treasure in Nova Scotia, but legends of his booty spread anyway.

        In 1935 Gilbert Hedden read a book entitled Captain Kidd and His Skeleton Island.33 The book included a map that appeared to Hedden to depict Oak Island. The author, however, claimed that the island was in the South China Sea. At great expense and after much time, Hedden finally caught up with the author in England only to be told that the map was the author’s creation. Despite the fact that pirate treasure rarely stayed buried for long and was usually placed in shallow locations, the theory of a pirate “bank” was advanced by Dunbar Hinrichs, the same man who had come up with the notion of the Huguenot banks. The Money Pit, it was said, had been built as an elaborate treasure trove where wandering pirates could deposit their stolen goods in a protected vault. The construction allowed protection not only from outsiders but also from other pirates. Although such banks were supposed to be located in Haiti and Madagascar, they have never been found. After the execution of Kidd in England, treasure searching became the rage all over the world. There has never been any hard evidence that Kidd was ever in Oak Island, but that did not stop anyone from believing he had buried a treasure on the island.
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